## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 82,884

FLA BAR NO. 0382371

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

JOHN H. BUSTAMANTE,

Respondent.

SID LIVINITE

SID LIVINITE

APR 21 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY Chief Deputy Clerk

# INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RICHARD A. GREENBERG 300 West Park Avenue Post Office Box 925 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 681-9848

FL Bar No. 0382371

Counsel for Respondent BUSTAMANTE

# A.

## **B. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

References	to the	transcript	of the	final	hearing	held	October	7,	1994,	shall	be by	the
designation Tr		.•										

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 8, 1993, complainant filed a notice of determination or judgment of guilt with this court showing that respondent had been convicted of a felony in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio. Subsequently, on October 26, 1993, this court entered an order automatically suspending the respondent from the practice of law pursuant to Rule 3-7.2 (e) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The effective date of the suspension was 30 days from October 19, 1993.

On December 15, 1993, complainant filed it's complaint in the present case. Respondent's answer was filed on March 4, 1994. In his answer, respondent admitted he had entered a plea of guilty to count one of an indictment filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio. Respondent asserted he entered into a plea agreement solely because the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio was threatening further investigation and prosecution of members of respondent's family. On March 15, 1994, respondent filed his response to request for admissions.

Complainant filed a motion to deem matters admitted and motion for summary judgment on March 29, 1994. Respondent filed his response to said motion on April 1, 1994. A hearing was held on complainant's motion on June 15, 1994, and the referee subsequently entered an order on July 18, 1994, granting summary judgment. The referee's order of July 18, 1994, also recommended the respondent be found guilty of having violated Rules 4-8.4 (a), 4-8.4(b), 4-8.4(c), and 4-8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Florida Bar.

The case proceeded to a final hearing before the referee on October 7, 1994. After a lengthy hearing at which the respondent presented the testimony of five character witnesses, along with the testimony of respondent and numerous exhibits, the referee took the matter under advisement awaiting written final arguments from the respective parties. Complainant submitted it's memorandum in support of discipline to the referee on October 13, 1994. Respondent's final argument was submitted on October 14, 1994.

On November 18, 1994, the report of referee was issued. The referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating Rules 3-4.4, 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(b), and 4-8.4(c), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The referee then noted he considered the aggravating factors of

dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct, and substantial experience in the practice of law. The referee did not consider any mitigating factors. The referee then recommended that respondent be disbarred from the practice of law in Florida and that respondent be responsible for the costs of the proceedings.

A timely petition for review was filed by respondent on March 3, 1995.

### D. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent was indicted on September 12, 1990, in a twelve count indictment returned by the grand jury for the United States District Court, Northern District of Ohio (Eastern Division). The case proceeded to a jury trial between the dates of January 22, 1991, and January 30, 1991. After three and one-half days of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict on February 4, 1991, finding respondent guilty of counts one, five, seven, nine and eleven, and not guilty of the remaining counts. The trial court entered a judgment of acquittal as to count twelve of the indictment on January 29, 1991, at the close of the government's case.

Respondent then filed a motion for new trial which was granted by the Honorable John Manos, the trial judge in the case. (Respondent's Composite Exhibit Two). The memorandum of opinion issued by Judge Manos noted that the jury's verdict "because of it's apparent confounding inconsistency, bore little or no relationship to the charges of the indictment." (Respondent's Composite Exhibit Two). The U. S. Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio appealed this decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit entered a per curiam opinion on June 12, 1992, which remanded the matter to Judge Manos for further proceedings. Judge Manos then entered a second order dated June 15, 1992, which affirmed his prior decision. (Respondent's Composite Exhibit Two). On August 12, 1992, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed Judge Manos' ruling granting a new trial. (Respondent's Composite Exhibit Two).

After the affirmance of the order granting a new trial, the case returned to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio. A number of significant events then occurred. First, respondent's daughter became critically ill and at one point was in need of a liver transplant. (Tr. - 108, 141, 203). Further, the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio expanded the scope of it's investigation to include respondent's children and his business, *The Call and Post Newspaper*. (Tr. - 68,71).

On January 19, 1993, respondent's youngest son committed suicide after learning of the efforts of the United States government to continue to prosecute respondent. (Tr. - 73, 108,109,

142 - 143, 204-206). At this point, plea negotiations began in earnest between respondent and the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio.

On April 2, 1993, respondent signed a plea agreement with the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio. (Bar's Exhibit B). The language of the plea agreement was subsequently amended after respondent's counsel learned of the impact the language of the plea agreement would have upon respondent's ability to ever seek reinstatement to the practice of law in the State of Ohio. (Tr. - 74-78; Bar's Exhibit C).

After entry of his plea, respondent was sentenced on June 11, 1993, to five years probation. Respondent was also ordered to pay restitution to Consumers United Insurance Company.

Respondent entered a plea of guilty to only count one of the indictment. The remaining counts were dismissed by the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio. Also, the plea agreement specifically stated no other members of respondent's family would be prosecuted if the respondent plead guilty. (Bar's Exhibit B). Respondent demanded this language as a condition of the plea agreement. (Tr. - 207-208).

### E. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As noted in the numerous character letters and in the testimony of the character witnesses who appeared on behalf of respondent, respondent is recognized as one of the leaders of the black community in Cleveland, Ohio. Although respondent's resume (Respondent's Exhibit 6), his character letters and his witnesses attest to a man of high integrity and respect, the referee found no mitigating factors in regard to the imposition of discipline. The referee's decision in this regard is clearly lacking in support.

The circumstances surrounding respondent's plea of guilty to one count of a twelve count indictment support the finding respondent should not be disbarred from the practice of law in the State of Florida. Respondent's spirit and willingness to fight charges he felt were unjustified were crushed by the tragic death of his youngest son. Once that sad event occurred, respondent was a broken man who looked for a way to put the matter behind him without any further damage to his family.

A felony conviction does not necessarily call for the disbarment of an attorney. The court must look at all the facts and circumstances involved in the case and at any aggravating and mitigating factors. The referee erred in only considering aggravating factors. If the referee had considered the plethora of mitigating factors present in this case, the referee would have, perhaps, made a different recommendation to this court. In any event, the recommendation of disbarment must be rejected.

#### F. ARGUMENT

1. Whether the referee erred in failing to consider any mitigating factors and in recommending respondent be disbarred from the practice of law in the State of Florida.

The report of referee indicates the referee considered the aggravating factors of dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct, and substantial experience in the practice of law. Of these factors, respondent will only concede that substantial experience in the practice of law is applicable to the present case. In many ways, however, respondent's experience in the practice of law is a mitigating factor. Respondent served the public as a member of The Florida Bar and the Ohio Bar for over 40 years without a single incident of misconduct. The referee failed to consider this or any other mitigating factors. The record is replete with examples of factors which mitigate against the referee's recommended discipline of disbarment.

The history of the criminal case against respondent itself shows disbarment is not appropriate in this case. After a lengthy trial on a twelve count indictment, a jury found respondent guilty of only five of the counts.<sup>1</sup> The trial court had previously granted respondent's motion for judgment of acquittal as to count twelve of the indictment. The trial judge then granted respondent's motion for new trial finding the jury's verdict "bore little or no relationship to the charges of the indictment." (Respondent's Composite Exhibit Two).

A review of the indictment (Bar's Exhibit 1) and the jury's verdict shows the complete inconsistency of the jury's verdict. For example, count eight of the indictment charges that on or about October 5, 1988, respondent caused a check in the amount of \$25,000.00 payable to Bustamante, Donohoe, and Palmisano to be transported in interstate commerce from New York to Ohio. Respondent was found not guilty of count eight. Nevertheless, in count nine, which charges an identical transaction on October 7, 1988, the jury found respondent guilty.

After the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio appealed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The jury deliberated 3 1/2 days before returning it's verdict. (Respondent's Exhibit Two-memorandum opinion of Judge Manos). The verdict was obviously a compromise verdict, i.e. respondent was found guilty of basically every other count.

order granting a new trial to the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, several events happened which weakened the resolve of respondent to continue to fight to clear his good name. First, respondent's daughter became critically ill and at one point was in need of a liver transplant. (Tr. - 108, 141, 203). Further, the government expanded the scope of it's investigation to include respondent's children and his business, *The Call and Post Newspaper*. (Tr. - 68, 71).

The testimony of respondent's first trial counsel, Charles Clarke, shows the manner in which respondent was targeted for prosecution by the U. S. Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio. Mr. Clarke's testimony also provides some insight into some of the politics which may have motivated the U. S. Attorney's Office.

According to Mr. Clarke, respondent had achieved "a national reputation as a leader in the black community. Among his clients were a number of distinguished political and semi-political figures in various parts of the United States, and among them was Jesse Jackson." (Tr. - 23-24). At the time respondent represented Jesse Jackson, both the FBI and the Treasury Department were interested in Jesse Jackson due to his alleged links to the government of Libya and the government of Syria. (Tr. -24). Shortly after respondent represented Jesse Jackson, the FBI began an investigation of respondent's financial dealings with First Bank, a minority-owned bank respondent had helped found in Cleveland, Ohio. (Tr. - 26) (Respondent's Exhibit 4).

During the pre-indictment investigation of respondent, Mr. Clarke felt the investigation being conducted by the FBI was not impartial. He wrote letters to the Attorney General for the United States asking the Attorney General to look into the investigation. (Respondent's Exhibit One). After the Attorney General's Office determined there were no improprieties in the investigation, Mr. Clarke recommended to respondent that he enter a plea, but respondent refused to do so. (Tr. - 33). According to Mr. Clarke, respondent rejected a proposed plea agreement at that time because "he was innocent of any criminal conduct in the procurement of the challenged loans or in the adequacy of their collateral or in his bona fide intention to pay the loans when required." (Respondent's Exhibit One - affidavit of Charles Clarke, para. 2).

Mr. Clarke also testified as to respondent's reputation in the legal community in

Cleveland, Ohio. According to Mr. Clarke, respondent is respected and is recognized as a good and careful lawyer. (Tr. - 43).

After Judge Manos' ruling granting a new trial was affirmed on appeal, Mr. Clarke was replaced as respondent's counsel by Clarence D. Rogers, Jr. Mr. Rogers represented respondent at the time respondent entered into the plea agreement with the U. S. Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Ohio. Mr. Rogers also represented respondent's son, Andre, who had been indicted and who had gone to trial with respondent. The trial court granted a judgment of acquittal for Andre Bustamante. (Tr. - 64).

At some point either before or after the final ruling from the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, the government begin to further investigate respondent. According to Mr. Rogers, the government was looking at other matters not related to the pending case, including an effort to implicate another of respondent's sons, Tuan Bustamante. (Tr. - 68). In addition to the pressure of fearing that his son Tuan might be indicted, respondent suffered the blow of the suicide of his youngest son. According to Mr. Rogers, respondent was "devastated" by this tragic death. (Tr. - 73). All of these factors had a great deal to do with respondent's decision to enter a plea of guilty. (Tr. - 74).

Mr. Rogers also testified as to respondent's reputation in the legal community in Cleveland, Ohio. According to Mr. Rogers, respondent enjoys a reputation among his peers as one of the leaders of the Bar in the City of Cleveland and in the State of Ohio. "His reputation as a lawyer is impeccable." (Tr. - 79).

The testimony of respondent also reveals the extreme pressures brought to bear upon him which resulted in his entry of a plea of guilty to the one count of the indictment. According to respondent, when the case was remanded from the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals, his oldest daughter was in the hospital. Then one Sunday morning on his way to church a man drove in front of him and respondent lost control of his car and hit a building. Respondent suffered a broken nose, broken ribs and injury to his eye and knee. (Tr. - 203-204). This occurred during July 1992.

As indicated in the following excerpt from the transcript, the death of respondent's

youngest son completely destroyed his will to keep fighting to clear his good name:

So on the nineteenth of January of 1993, he took a gun to his head after he came home from school and killed himself.

- Q: And how did that affect you?
- A: Oh, I almost died from it myself. (Tr. 204-205).
- A: He killed himself. And then I just sort of went aloose then myself.
- Q: You mentioned that this was January 19, 1993?
- A: Ninety-two. Ninety-three. Yes.
- Q: And how -- how long after that did the government begin to
- A: As soon as it was in the newspaper --
- Q: -- serve subpoenas on you?
- A: As soon as it was in the newspaper in Cleveland, about the third day after his death, they were there with more subpoenas and all. Everything that you did, they would get it and ascribe some criminal conduct to it if they could figure out a way to do it.

So we lived through my son's situation. Then we were preparing for trial. And they offered this plea agreement, and I would not accept it in its first form. Then they said: Okay. Your two sons are officers of this corporation. We will dismiss the indictment against you and indict all three of you. (Tr. - 204-206).

At this point, respondent "gave in to the situation" in order to save his family from any further indictments. (Tr. - 207). Respondent also insisted that the plea agreement contain language that the United States Attorney's Office would not bring any additional charges against respondent or any member of his family. (Tr. - 208) (Bar's Exhibit B).

Finally, respondent indicated how the pressures being put upon his family and upon his health were too great. He decided he couldn't take anymore and agreed to enter the plea. (Tr. - 214).

A review of several prior opinions of this court shows the recommended sanction of disbarment is not appropriate in the present case. Most recently, this court issued a three year

suspension in the case of *The Florida Bar v. Lawrence J. Smith*, 20 FLW S93 (February 23, 1995). The respondent in *Smith*, as in the present case, had plead guilty to felony charges in federal court. Significantly, the respondent in *Smith* had plead guilty to *two* felony charges and was sentenced to three months in prison. *Id.* Also, the respondent in *Smith* had committed some of the offenses while serving as an elected member of Congress. Unlike respondent in the present case, the respondent in *Smith* had a prior disciplinary record. *Id.* Despite the serious nature of the offenses committed by the respondent in *Smith* and the position of public trust he had held and abused, this court did not hesitate to impose a three year suspension.

As this court has noted on numerous occasions, each case must be viewed solely on its merits. *The Florida Bar v. Jahn*, 509 So. 2d. 285, 286 (Fla. 1987). This court has also consistently rejected the contention that a conviction alone necessarily requires disbarment. *The Florida Bar v. Pavlick*, 504 So. 2d. 1231, 1235 (Fla. 1987).

In *Pavlick*, the attorney entered an *Alford* plea. Unfortunately, respondent was unable to do so in his case because the court would not allow such a plea. (Tr. - 83). Nevertheless, in a disbarment proceeding the accused lawyer shall be given a full opportunity to explain the circumstances and otherwise offer testimony in excuse or in mitigation of the penalty. *The Florida Bar v. Pavlick* at 1234, citing *State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Evans*, 94 So. 2d. 730, 735 (Fla. 1957). Respondent offered both an explanation of the circumstances which led to the entry of his plea of guilty and mitigating evidence. The referee ignored all this testimony and all of respondent's exhibits.

Numerous other cases support the imposition of a suspension in the present case. In *The Florida Bar v. Kennedy*, 439 So. 2d. 215 (Fla. 1983), the respondent, while serving as vice-president of a savings and loan, transferred funds belonging to the savings and loan into an account he established under a fictitious name. The respondent claimed he did this because he felt he was entitled to reimbursement for extra services he provided. He was then indicted for devising a scheme to obtain money by false and fraudulent pretenses. The respondent plead guilty and was placed on three years probation. This court imposed a suspension on the respondent in *Kennedy*. *Id.*, at 216.

The respondent in *The Florida Bar v. Stahl*, 500 So. 2d. 540 (Fla. 1987), was charged with corruptly influencing, obstructing and impeding justice by filing false documents with a federal grand jury. *Id.*, at 541. The respondent in *Stahl* plead guilty and admitted to the referee he prepared a document which contained a false date and that he had in his possession other documents which were false and which were produced to the grand jury. This court imposed a suspension upon the respondent in *Stahl*. *Id.*, at 542.

In *The Florida Bar v. Marcus*, 616 So. 2d. 975 (Fla. 1993), the respondent systematically and repeatedly misappropriated client funds while employed as an associate in a law firm. *Id.* The respondent also lied to the firm's client about the size of settlements and then pocketed the difference by depositing the settlement checks in an account that was not maintained by the law firm. The respondent in *Marcus* was suspended from the practice of law. *Id.*, at 975.

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