FILED

SIDJ. WHITE 5/30

IDA MAY 17 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 82,884

vs.

TFB File No. 94-00390-02

JOHN H. BUSTAMANTE,
Respondent.

# ANSWER BRIEF

JAMES N. WATSON, JR.
Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorney Number 0144587

#

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was convicted of a federal felony of scheming to defraud upon a plea of guilty. Respondent engaged in a scheme over a period of at least six (6) years where he lied to everyone that became involved in his attempt to obtain money for personal uses.

As part of his plea agreement in federal court, he agreed to cease his practice of law and not to contest any subsequent proceedings against his license. After being suspended in Florida on his Ohio conviction, Respondent has vigorously contested the proceedings before this Court.

While a felony conviction in and of itself does not mandate disbarment in Florida, it does serve as conclusive proof of the underlying misconduct.

In recommending the appropriate discipline, the Referee has the responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in evidence. Unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, a Referee's findings of fact should not be overturned.

The Referee in this matter personally observed the character witnesses and the Respondent in testifying.

After hearing all the evidence, the Referee made a finding against Respondent as to the rule violations and recommended Respondent be disbarred. The evidence before the Referee was more than sufficient to sustain his recommendation of disbarment and such recommendation should be affirmed.

## **ARGUMENT**

# THE REFEREE'S REPORT IS SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO AFFIRM THE RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT

The Referee granted The Florida Bar summary judgment after finding Respondent guilty of the charged ethical violations.

The final hearing was for the sole purpose of establishing the appropriate discipline to be recommended by the Referee to the Court.

After the final hearing, the Referee asked for written arguments from each side before entering his report of the referee. The final report of referee found Respondent guilty of violating Rule 3-4.4, Rules of Discipline and Rules 4-8.4(a, b, and c), Rules of Professional Conduct of The Florida Bar.

Respondent has argued that the Referee failed to consider any mitigating factors in reaching his recommended discipline of disbarment. In making his argument, Respondent cites to the presence of the specific aggravating factors of dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct and substantial experience in the practice of law cited in the Referee's report. Respondent argues that the Referee failed to consider any mitigating factors since none were specifically cited.

At the end of the final hearing, each party was asked to submit written arguments as to the appropriate discipline in this matter. Respondent submitted his arguments on October 14,

1994 and therein argued eight factors in mitigation. (p. 6, Final Argument of Respondent)

In rendering his report, the Referee specifically states at the start of the second paragraph, "After considering all the pleadings and evidence before me...". From this statement, it is clear that the Referee considered the final written arguments of Respondent and therein the arguments as to mitigation.

In citing <u>The Florida Bar v. Diamond</u>, 548 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1989) as establishing certain applicable mitigating factors, Respondent argues several points that should be held in his favor.

The first factor cited is Respondent's age. A review of the Referee's Report shows that this factor was considered. (RR - p. 4) The Referee also considered Respondent's tenure with The Florida Bar, citing his admission date of October 18, 1952. (RR - p. 4)

Respondent places great emphasis on the character testimony contained in written letters on behalf of Respondent and testimony given at the final hearing as mitigation.

A review of the testimony of the character witnesses and what they knew about the criminal charges shows a lack of their effectiveness due to Respondent having been less than candid with the witnesses.

Respondent called Jacques Bossert to testify on his behalf and as to his character. Mr. Bossert was instrumental in assisting Respondent in establishing the First Bank and Trust of Cleveland. (FHTr - p. 100)

Mr. Bossert retired to Florida in 1987 and testified he had little or no contact with Respondent after his retirement. Even when Respondent's bank closed and was unable to meet its retirement obligations to Mr. Bossert, Mr. Bossert never called to inquire of Respondent exactly what was happening. (FHTr - p. 123)

Mr. Bossert also testified that he had no knowledge of the criminal charges or had never even seen a copy of the federal indictment. (FHTr - pp. 126-127)

Respondent's next witness was Wesley Toles of Cleveland
Heights, Ohio. Mr. Toles was also involved with Respondent in
the venture of First Bank and Trust of Cleveland. (FHTr - p.
136) He testified that he had known Respondent for thirty years
and up close for twenty-five of those years. (FHTr - p. 136)

Despite Mr. Toles' closeness to Respondent, he was unaware of Respondent's problems with the condemned St. Clair property (FHTr - p. 151), did not know of Respondent's company, Bottom Line, and its oil drilling (FHTr - p. 150) and had never discussed Respondent's pending criminal charges that resulted in Respondent's plea of guilty. (FHTr - pp. 144, 145)

Respondent's last character witness called at the final hearing was Mr. Oswald Bronson, Sr., President of Bethune-Cookman College of Daytona Beach, Florida. Mr. Bronson testified on direct examination that Respondent's character and reputation presented a good role model for the students of his college. He also testified that Respondent had received an

honorary doctorate of law degree from Bethune-Cookman College in 1985. (FHTr - p. 167-168)

While admitting on direct examination that he was aware that Respondent had pled guilty to charges in federal court (FHTr - p. 172) Mr. Bronson stated such knowledge was only in passing.

On cross-examination, Mr. Bronson admitted that he had no idea what the nature of the charges were that Respondent had pled guilty to in federal court. Mr. Bronson stated all he knew was that Respondent was having some legal problems and was asked to testify and to express his confidence in Respondent. (FHTr - p. 175) Mr. Bronson went on to admit that he had lunch with Respondent and Respondent's counsel and there was never any discussion or revelation as to the exact nature of the charges to which Respondent had pled guilty. (FHTr - p. 176)

The character witnesses have testified on behalf of a man they knew of for a time period up until the mid-1980's. This was about the time that the fraudulent scheme Respondent pled guilty to began. The common thread to these witnesses is that none of them had ever personally discussed the exact nature of the criminal charges with Respondent so as to be able to have the benefit of this knowledge in qualifying their testimony.

A prime example of Respondent's lack of character is the fact that he was less than thruthful with Mr. Bronson as to why he needed his testimony and given the opportunity to reveal a major character flaw over lunch, failed to advise or disclose the nature of his misconduct. (FHTr - p. 175)

Respondent argues that the testimony and evidence presented as to Respondent's good character should mitigate the Referee's recommendation to something less than disbarment.

After arguing that the character evidence in mitigation was not considered, Respondent next argues the circumstances surrounding his plea of guilty to show that disbarment is not an appropriate discipline.

The thrust of Respondent's argument is that the circumstances surrounding the entry of Respondent's guilty plea and the personal tragedies experienced by Respondent at this point in time are mitigating factors that would prevent the Referee from recommending disbarment.

In making this argument, Respondent has completely ignored the facts that were the basis for Respondent's indictment.

Nowhere in Respondent's brief is there any mention of the continuing and repetitive nature of the facts to which Respondent pled guilty. These facts were properly before the Referee by way of the indictment (Bar's Exhibit 1) and properly considered.

A simple reading of the indictment in regards to Count I that Respondent pled guilty to clearly shows the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct, the continuing nature of fraud and misrepresentations and the deceitfulness that Respondent resorted to whenever it would benefit his selfish motives.

In addition to the charges in the indictment, Respondent was shown to have misappropriated funds from the Estate of Georgia B. Lightner. While not specifically cited within the

formal complaint, Respondent was required, as part of the plea agreement, to reimburse the sisters of Ms. Georgia Lightner for funds which Respondent had misappropriated in his capacity as a lawyer. The facts surrounding this misappropriation are set forth in the United States' Sentencing Memorandum. (Bar's Exhibit 4) Respondent makes no mention of these facts that were in front of the Referee.

The misuse of the funds of the Georgia Lightner estate transpired during the time Respondent was on pre-trial release, pending the re-trial for the criminal charges that he ultimately pled guilty to. The use of these funds was again for personal uses, such as a mortgage payment on Respondent's condominium, attorney fees for his criminal trial and use in the running of his newspaper. (Bar's Exhibit 4 - p. 11)

While Respondent has argued specific cases where individual lawyers have engaged in what is argued as similar misconduct and received discipline less than disbarment, Respondent has failed to show how the Referee's recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence.

A Referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not support by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504, 507 (Fla. 1994)

The Referee did find aggravating factors based upon the evidence before him. These factors were a dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, refusal to acknowledge wrongful

nature of conduct and substantial experience in the practice of law.

Respondent has not argued or shown how any of the above aggravating factors found by the Referee were erroneous or lacked support by substantial evidence so these elements must stand unchallenged.

Respondent cites to various cases in support of his argument that disbarment is inappropriate; however, he has failed to relate the facts of this particular case to those cited, other than drawing a comparison between the cases dealing with felony convictions.

This Court has held that each case before it must be viewed solely upon its merits. The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285, 286 (Fla. 1987)

In the instant case, Respondent pled guilty to a federal felony of committing a scheme to defraud. The facts that serve as a basis for that charge are replete with numerous acts by Respondent where he actively lied, misrepresented factual issues, embezzled funds from a client, secreted and concealed monies due to his creditors—all for a selfish motive.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Nedick</u>, 603 So.2d 502 (Fla. 1992) the lawyer pled guilty to filing false tax returns on six occasions. Nedick received a two year prison term, suspended after three months. Based upon these facts, The Florida Bar filed disciplinary charges against Nedick. After hearing the case, the Referee recommended Nedick be suspended for three years and cited as mitigation the fact that Nedick had no prior record,

had cooperated with federal officials, and had received other penalties for his misconduct.

In rejecting the Referee's recommendation in <u>Nedick</u> and ordering disbarment, the Court held that the mitigation was outweighed by the seriousness of the offense, its willful and repetitious nature, and the selfish and deceitful motive behind it. Id, at 503.

In the case before the Court, the Bar would argue Respondent's case is precisely aligned with the holding in <a href="Nedick">Nedick</a>. Here there is shown a participation by Respondent in a serious felony, Respondent's actions were willful and repetitious, and his motive was selfish and deceitful. These factors can be seen to outweigh the fact that Respondent had no prior discipline and support the Referee's recommendation of disbarment.

In the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Forbes</u>, 596 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1992) this Court affirmed a recommendation of disbarment where the lawyer was found guilty of making false statements in loan documents submitted to a bank so as to influence its actions in granting a loan. As in the instant case, <u>Forbes</u> had no prior disciplinary record. Despite a lack of any disciplinary history, the Court in <u>Forbes</u> felt disbarment was appropriate for such a serious felony. These facts are on point with Respondent's conduct herein and would support the Referee's recommendation of disbarment.

Another instance where this Court has held that disbarment is appropriate where an attorney participates in a fraudulent

scheme, is the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Levine</u>, 542 So.2d 990 (Fla. 1989)

A review of Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer
Sanctions would also support the Referee's recommendation of
disbarment. Section 5.11(a) provides that disbarment is
appropriate when "a lawyer is convicted of a felony under
applicable law;" or (b) "a lawyer engages in serious criminal
conduct, a necessary element of which includes intentional
interference with the administration of justice, false swearing,
misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, misappropriation, or
theft." Section 7.1 - provides that "disbarment is appropriate
when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a
violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to
obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious
or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the
legal system."

Another responsibility of the Referee in these proceedings is to weigh the evidence and judge the credibility of the witnesses. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts is placed with the Referee. The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994)

In this case, Respondent entered into a plea agreement (Bar's Exhibit 2) that initially required Respondent to surrender his license to practice law in Ohio and in any other state in which he held a license. This agreement was modified by letter dated May 21, 1993 (Bar's Exhibit 3) to read that "on or before the date of sentencing in the criminal case,

Respondent would cease the practice of law and would not contest any subsequent action by Ohio or any other state against his law license."

The reason for the change in language was explained by Respondent's criminal defense attorney, Clarence Rogers, at the final hearing. The need for the change was due to a rule in Ohio that prohibits the re-application for a law license by a lawyer that voluntarily surrendered his license. (FHTr - pp. 81-83)

At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment by The Florida Bar, the Referee questioned Respondent's ability to contest the Florida proceedings under this plea agreement and directly commented on the effect such a stance had on the Respondent's credibility. (SJTr - pp. 14, 15) At this hearing, the Referee questioned the credibility of Respondent by his asking a Federal Judge to allow him to enter a plea to a single count of an indictment in exchange for his not contesting any subsequent action on his law license.

Nowhere in Respondent's pleadings or his testimony does he actually admit that he has done anything wrong of either a criminal or ethical nature.

Respondent makes a case of a man devastated by personal tragedies that took the will to contest these charges out of him. This position ignores the facts which serve as the basis for his criminal conviction and that the initial jury had convicted him on numerous counts of the indictment.

The only remorse shown by the Respondent is that he has been inconvenienced by his plea and has shown no concern for the problems created by his misconduct.

It has been clearly shown that there is competent, substantial evidence to support the factual findings and recommendation of disbarment by the Referee.

Respondent's argument against disbarment must fail due to his inability to show the recommendation of the Referee was clearly erroneous. The personal tragedies cited by Respondent came after the misconduct attributed to Respondent and such misconduct cannot be argued as being the result of these incidences. Respondent's character witnesses were not informed of the nature of Respondent's criminal conduct, and their testimony must be tempered by this fact and not considered as relevant.

#### CONCLUSION

The Referee's Report and recommendations are clearly supported by competent and substantial evidence and the discipline of disbarment should be affirmed.